#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

03/08/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0226

#### No. DA 22-0226

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

BRADLEY JAY HILLIOUS,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County, the Honorable Robert B. Allison, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
JEFF N. WILSON
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
JWilson@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

When procuring jury pools, the clerk must mail notice to the persons selected and certify the non-responders to the sheriff who shall serve notice personally. A failure to substantially comply with these requirements is reversible without proof of prejudice because it undermines the jury selection process. Did the Flathead County Clerk and Sheriff substantially comply with these requirements when the Clerk failed to certify non-responders and the Sheriff failed to personally serve any non-responders?

Testimonial hearsay is inadmissible without confrontation. Non-testimonial hearsay is inadmissible absent a qualifying exception. Eight months before her death, Amanda claimed in an affidavit, text messages to a friend, and to her mother, that Brad assaulted her. Did the court err by admitting the testimonial affidavit, and similar accusations when all failed to fit a hearsay exception?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bradley Jay Hillious (Brad) appeals his homicide conviction after a jury trial in Flathead County.

The State charged Brad with killing his wife, Amanda, in violation of Montana Code Annotated § 45-5-102 (2019). (Doc. 1.) Brad filed pretrial motions to exclude Amanda's statements accusing him of violence the prior April, which the court denied. (Doc. 91, Orders RE Testimonial Statements and Syndromes, attached as Appendix A.)

The court sentenced Brad to 100 years prison. (Doc. 194, Judgment and Sentence, attached as Appendix B.) Brad timely appealed. (Doc. 198.)

To form the venire for Brad's jury, the district court clerk mailed notices to the persons drawn as jurors in July of 2021. (Doc. 211, Ex. B at 2; 218, Ex. E at 14, 62.) At that time, the Clerk did not certify the individuals who failed to respond to the notice ("non-responders") to the sheriff for personal service. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 68–69, 74–76.)

Brad discovered this irregular process about 17 months into his appeal and filed a Motion for New Trial and Request for Evidentiary Hearing in district court. (Doc. 211.) This Court stayed the appeal for the district court to rule on Brad's request. (Doc. 215.) The district court denied Brad's motion without a hearing. (Doc. 220, Order & Rationale on Motion for New Trial, attached as Appendix C.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Brad and Amanda lived in a two-level home with their kids: J.H., age eleven, A.H., age five, H.H., age three, and R.H., age one. (Doc. 1 at 3.) Amanda worked in healthcare; Brad was a wildland firefighter and frequently gone. (Trial Transcript (Tr.) at 317, 1205.) Scott, Brad's retired father, lived there too, often caring for the kids. (State Ex. 3 at 42:20–42:40.)

#### December 15

Brad laid in bed with H.H. as Amanda prepared for work. (State Ex. 28 at 9:20:00–9:20:30.) Scott and A.H. were downstairs. (Tr. at 347.) Amanda entered the bedroom to mention a bothersome comment Brad made on social media. (Tr. at 1762.) Brad told Amanda the kids were asleep, they could discuss it later, and laid back down. (Tr. at 1762–63.)

The exchange amounted to "stern whispering." (Tr. at 1765.) Text messages Amanda sent to a friend that morning gave no indication she was upset. (Tr. at 1782–83.) Days later, when Detective Foster from the Flathead County Sheriff's Office (FCSO) pressed Brad whether things became physical, suggesting Amanda hollered and pushed him, Brad maintained he never became physical. (Tr. at 1764, 1810.)

J.H. testified that Brad and Amanda argued while he ate breakfast; Brad hit Amanda, dragged her to the bedroom, and sent J.H. to his room. (Tr. at 357, 360.) J.H. heard Amanda go downstairs alone and Scott come out of his room. (Tr. at 378–79.) J.H. heard the metallic sound of a belt as Brad dressed upstairs, which confused J.H. because he thought he heard Brad downstairs. (Tr. at 379, 468.) J.H. heard Amanda say, "stop hitting me" and "call 911." (Tr. at 361–62.) He heard Amanda walking upstairs, then the sound of her falling. (Tr. at 362.) "[S]omething happened, and she fell." (Tr. at 358.)

Brad told FCSO he heard a yell, banging noise, and dogs barking; he quickly dressed, turned on a light, and saw Amanda lying at the base of the stairs. (State Ex. 28 at 9:21:00–9:22:40.) Brad put H.H. back in the bedroom and rushed downstairs. (State Ex. 28 at 9:21:00–9:22:40.) Amanda bled from her ear and her face was swelling. (State Ex. 28 at 9:26:45–9:27:05; 10:06:15–10:06:35.) She had a faint pulse and was breathing, but with snoring sounds. (Tr. at 1361–62.)

Brad pulled her a few feet into an open area and yelled for Scott. (Tr. at 1361; State Ex. 28 at 9:23:20–9:25:25.) A.H. appeared and saw Brad performing CPR. (State Ex. 28 at 9:25:50–9:26:10.) Amanda

remained unresponsive; Brad slapped the entertainment center in frustration. (State Ex. 28 at 9:29:50–9:30:45.)

A.H. did not see what happened but heard falling and Amanda say "stop." (Tr. at 346–48.) A.H. said Amanda fell down the stairs, then Brad came running down the stairs. (Tr. at 337.) A.H. recalled seeing four things: Amanda's "ear was gone[,]" blood on the floor, "[m]y dad and my other dad[.]" (Tr. at 337–38.) "[M]om said stop and dad said something[,]" and "mom said stop and stop and Papa said something." (Tr. at 589.)

A.H. called Scott both "papa" and "dad" and sometimes confused Scott's voice with Brad's. (Tr. at 338, 347, 478–79.) Amanda's ear was cut but fully attached. (State Ex. 84, 87.) A.H. also said "[J.H.] grabbed [Amanda's] neck and pushed her on the toy," and that Scott told him J.H. had his hands on mom's throat. (Tr. at 474, 2255.)

The boys had been with Michelle Wungluck, Amanda's mother, since the day after the incident. (Tr. at 344–45, 370–71, 460.) Before J.H.'s initial interview, Wungluck told J.H. that Brad was the one who killed his mother. (Tr. at 371.) While she had custody of the boys,

Wungluck frequently discussed Amanda's death and called Brad "a murderer[.]" (Tr. at 345.)

Cara Laney, an expert on memory and how it can go wrong, testified that authority figures are "very skilled" at changing children's memories because kids rely on those who know more than they do. (Tr. at 2178, 2185, 2187.) Wendy Dutton, the State's expert on child-forensic interviews, agreed children can often be influenced by authority figures. (Tr. at 440.) J.H. gave contradictory answers in one interview and had inconsistencies from one to the next. (Tr. at 469, 2214.) Over time, the boys' stories began to match. (Tr. at 2214.)

Scott brought towels and called 911. (State Ex. 28 at 9:25:10–9:25:40.) He said nobody saw what happened, but he heard Amanda fall down the stairs and hit the entertainment center. (Def. Ex. WW at 1:00–1:25.) Scott suggested she tripped on a toy. (Def. Ex. WW at 3:25–3:35.) FCSO Deputy McGauley arrived and took over CPR from an exhausted, distraught Brad. (Tr. at 506, 556.) Emergency responders arrived, inserted an artificial airway, and attached an automated chest compression machine. (Tr. at 1039, 1060.) Amanda had a faint pulse upon transport to the hospital. (Tr. at 1044.)

#### December 15-26

The swelling in Amanda's face and throat seemed unusual for a fall. (Tr. at 718.) She had "tremendous brain swelling" from lack of oxygen. (Tr. at 721–22.) Amanda's hyoid, a U-shaped bone under the jaw, was fractured, typically caused by hanging, strangulation, or forceful direct trauma. (Tr. at 825–26.) Amanda showed no external signs of strangulation like a ligature or handprint. (Tr. at 742.)

Amanda died December 19. (Tr. at 1090.) The medical examiner concluded it was lack of oxygen to her brain resulting from strangulation associated with blunt-force injuries. (Tr. at 1520–21.)

Rylie, Brad's coworker and on-again-off-again girlfriend, was at the house December 23. (Tr. at 1901, 1904, 1917.) Scott told Rylie he would never see his grandchildren again, was going to lose his home and son, but he would never go to jail. (Tr. at 1917.) Scott became aggressive and defensive when asked what this meant. (Tr. at 1917.) Scott told Rylie to stay at the house, do not leave Brad alone, and everything was Scott's fault. (Tr. at 1917–18.)

On December 24, Detective Schuster requested follow-up interviews from Brad and Scott. (Doc. 1 at 4.) Brad told Scott they

needed to do another interview. (Tr. at 1748.) Scott became solemn and replied, "I can't deal with this anymore. [T]his is bullshit, I'm not going to jail." (Tr. at 1748–49.) Scott told Brad he loved him, walked to their barn, and shot himself. (Tr. at 1749–50.)

FCSO had reason to seek another interview from Scott. Scott was "the one that found" Amanda at the bottom of the stairs. (Tr. at 1255.) Scott claimed he "hears everything" in the house, and "can't hear anything" when he is downstairs. (Def. Ex. M6 at 10:58:30–10:58:40; Tr. at 569.) Scott said he woke to an "ow" or "help" almost simultaneous to dogs barking. (Def. Ex. M6 at 11:09:20–11:10:35.) Later, Scott said he heard Amanda and J.H. walking around minutes before the barking, indicating he was already awake. (Def. Ex. M6 at 11:56:50–11:57:35.)

Deputy Foster questioned Brad about Scott's death just hours before, about the morning of Amanda's injuries, and about a dispute involving all three in April. (Tr. at 1744–45, 1754–55.) The interview ended with Brad's arrest for Amanda's death. (Doc. 3.)

Two days later, Brad told Rylie that before shooting himself, Scott confessed that he "did it[.]" (State Ex. 177 at 2:00:30–2:02:05.) Amanda told Scott she was leaving with the kids. (State Ex. 177 at 2:00:30–

2:02:05.) "[T]hat's what [Scott] told me. I haven't told anyone. I'm waiting to talk to Todd. . . . When you were on the phone . . . we were having a blank stare off, that's what [Scott] told me." (State Ex. 177 at 2:00:30–2:02:05.)

Scott revealed his potential for violence and animosity toward Amanda the previous April. (Def. Ex. YY at 3:50–7:10.) When FCSO served Scott a copy of the April 17 temporary order of protection (TOP) that Amanda obtained against him and Brad, Scott threatened Amanda, called her a "cunt," and begged deputies to shoot or tase him. (Def. Ex. YY at 5:55–6:50.) Scott was upset at being forced from his home, claimed he ate several bottles of medications, and had nothing to live for without his grandchildren. (Def. Ex. YY at 7:15–7:45, 8:10–8:35, 9:05–9:20, 24:25–25:05.) Scott always cared for the kids but Amanda offered no appreciation; "She's trying to take everything away." (Def. Ex. YY at 35:05–36:00.) "Now you're seeing the real me. . . . I have a tendency to blow up." (Def. Ex. YY at 26:35–26:52.) Deputies detained Scott on a mental health hold to end the situation. (Def. Ex. YY at 23:10-23:50.)

#### Amanda's hearsay statements

Brad sought to exclude Amanda's accusations that he became violent the previous April because they were testimonial, "unreliable, false and hearsay." (Doc. 66 at 2–3, 20.) Amanda made three accusatory statements: an affidavit requesting the TOP on April 17th, text messages to her friend and coworker Sara Prangley on April 12th and 16th, and to her mother on April 16th. (Doc. 66 at 20; State Ex. 33, 173–74.)

The State argued the statements were linked to and explanatory of what happened December 15, and admissible under various hearsay exceptions. (Doc. 39 at 5; 76.) It claimed the affidavit demonstrated that, when confronted about the affair and prospect of losing his children, Brad became enraged and violent, even putting his hand on Amanda's neck. (Doc. 39 at 5.)

In the affidavit, Amanda described confronting Brad about the affair in December, 2019. (State Ex. 33 at 3.) On April 12, she admitted recording Brad's comments from back then, and he broke her phone. (State Ex. 33 at 3–4.) Amanda contacted her father, who called 911 because Amanda, Brad, and Scott were "getting into it." (State Ex. 33 at

4; Tr. at 1077.) During the conflict, Scott asked for a gun because

Amanda would not listen. (State Ex. 33 at 4.) Police arrived, Amanda
told them what happened, and nobody got arrested. (State Ex. 33 at 4.)

On April 16, contemplating divorce, Amanda proposed taking the kids to visit Wungluck in Oregon. (State Ex. 33 at 4.) Scott got upset at this idea, began crying, and demanded Amanda "sign over" her rights to the kids. (State Ex. 33 at 4–5.) He knew three members of the Hell's Angels and would "put a hit on [Amanda's] head" if she took the kids. (State Ex. 33 at 6.) Brad changed his mind about Amanda leaving with the kids, got in her face, and demanded she sign divorce papers. (State Ex. 33 at 5.)

Amanda called 911, hung up, and dispatch called back. (State Ex. 33 at 6.) Outside—with dispatch still on the line—Brad "gesture[d]" as if he may pop the car tire, broke the house phone, pushed Amanda against the car, "put his hands around [her] neck[,]" and said, "I will end you Bitch." (State Ex. 33 at 6.) Amanda called Wungluck as police arrived, but "did not tell the cops" what they did. (State Ex. 33 at 6–7.)

Instead of going to Oregon, Amanda left the house, contacted a lawyer, and went to Dairy Queen. (State Ex. 33 at 7–8.) Later, she

called Brad, texted Prangley, returned home to swap kids, and relaxed at a hotel for the night. (State Ex. 33 at 7–8; 174.) She spoke to a lawyer the next morning who recommended the TOP. (State Ex. 33 at 8.)

The text messages to Prangley similarly described these events. (State Ex. 173, 174.) On April 12, Amanda told Prangley Brad shattered her phone, and they were separating. (State Ex. 173.) On April 16, she told Prangley how Brad "was going to pop the tire[,]" smashed the phone, threatened her, and put "his hands around [her] neck and was going to choke" her, how she "didn't tell the cops he had his hands around [her] neck or threatened to shoot" her, and she was scared to be home. (State Ex. 174.) Roughly 30 minutes later, she returned home to swap the kids. (State Ex. 174 at 4.)

The State claimed Amanda told Wungluck on April 16, while officers were present, that Brad "hit and choked her[.]" (Doc. 76 at 3.) The State also claimed Amanda told Prangley he "strangled" her, and told Francine Roston that Brad "hit and choked her[,]" though Roston did not testify at trial. (Doc. 39 at 3; 76 at 3.)

Having already found Amanda's accusations admissible under the transaction rule and to prove Brad's motive, the court concluded the

affidavit was nontestimonial and Brad waived his opportunity for cross-examination "by deliberately avoiding a [TOP] hearing[.]" (Doc. 54 at 5; 91 at 4–5.) The court found the affidavit admissible under "hearsay exceptions: excited utterance, then-existing state of mind, recorded recollection, guarantees of trustworthiness, and/or impending death." (Doc. 91 at 4.) Amanda's statements to friends and family that portrayed Brad negatively would be considered under the "usual concerns – relevance, competency, [and] authenticity." (Doc. 91 at 5.)

At trial, the court admitted the affidavit, the text messages, and Prangley's testimony about their contents. (State Ex. 33, 173, 174; Tr. at 1212–19.) Wungluck testified that on April 16, she was on the phone with Amanda and heard Brad "threaten [Amanda] with a gun" and say he could put "a bullet between [her] eyes." (Tr. at 1136.) Wungluck also claimed to hear Amanda tell police Brad "pushed her up against the car and was choking her[.]" (Tr. at 1138.)

#### Venire issues

Unknown to Brad, the Clerk tasked with forming the venire mailed notices to those drawn as jurors for Brad's trial term, but did not

certify non-responders to the sheriff. (Doc. 211.) The State called it a "technical violation[.]" (Doc. 217 at 7.)

Peg Allison has been the Clerk and Jury Commissioner in Flathead, a geographically, racially, and economically diverse county, since 1993. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 11, 39–40.) Since October of 2020, Allison has procured the annual venire by mailing 7,000 notices in January for trials between March 1 and August 31, and another 7,000 in July for trials between September 1 and February 28. (Doc. 211, Ex. B at 2; 218, Ex. E at 14, 62, 65.) Brad's trial began January 3, 2022, so Allison mailed notices for his venire in July of 2021. (Doc. 164.1.)

Allison ceased certifying non-responders during a prior sheriff's administration. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 74–75.) Due to certifying being an "arduous task" and the prior sheriff's supposed inability to personally serve all non-responders, Allison stopped. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 68, 75.) She resumed certifying in September of 2023, after questions arose regarding her jury procurement process. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 76.)

Nic Salois, employed by FCSO since 2003, testified that "[n]ot once" has he served notice to a juror, and he "would have been one of the people to have" done so. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 108.) Salois did not

recall his office ever receiving certified lists prior to Allison's recent about-face. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 76, 108.)

In January of 2023, when Allison sent out 7,000 notices for the upcoming trial term, there were 2,742 non-responders. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 27–28.) These individuals "probably" received the notice, ignored it, or could not respond. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 28.) Only 2,507 individuals responded. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 149.) About 1,000 notices came back as undeliverable; the rest received excusals. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 15, 150.) For this particular term, Allison simply removed those 2,742 non-responders from the venire. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 19, 40–41.) Allison never made any steps to certify the list of non-responders to the sheriff or assist in personally serving the non-responders in any manner.

Since Allison resumed certifying and the sheriff began personal service, Allison noticed "a significant improvement" in responses. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 76–77.) She received "a huge response" from about 400 people by mailing a second notice. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 77.) As the court described, the Clerk and Sheriff "made substantial efforts to remediate any concerns" regarding the "summoning [of] jury panelists." (Doc. 211, Ex. B.)

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The denial of a motion for new trial concerning violations of the jury formation statutes is a conclusion of law, reviewed for correctness. State v. LaMere, 2000 MT 45, ¶ 14, 298 Mont. 358, 2 P.3d 204; State v. Bearchild, 2004 MT 355, ¶ 7, 324 Mont. 435, 103 P.3d 1006. A district court's findings are reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard. Marble v. State, 2015 MT 242, ¶ 13, 380 Mont. 366, 355 P.3d 742. Discretionary rulings, including rulings on whether to hold an evidentiary hearing, are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Marble*, ¶ 13. A court abuses its discretion if it acted arbitrarily without the employment of conscientious judgment or exceeded the bounds of reason, in view of all circumstances, ignoring recognized principles resulting in substantial injustice. Clark v. Bell, 2009 MT 390, ¶ 16, 353 Mont. 331, 220 P.3d 650.

This Court reviews a district court's evidentiary decisions for abuse of discretion and its conclusions of law and interpretations of the Constitution or the rules of evidence de novo. *State v. Mizenko*, 2006 MT 11, ¶ 8, 330 Mont. 299, 127 P.3d 458.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The district court erred when it denied Brad's motion for new trial because the Clerk did not certify to the Sheriff those who did not respond to jury notices and the Sheriff did not serve the non-responders contrary to the plain, express language in § 3-15-405. The court denied Brad's motion for failing to show prejudice, in direct conflict with Montana law requiring reversal for failures to "substantially comply" with the statutes designed to ensure comprehensive venires.

The court wrongly admitted Amanda's accusations of prior violence. The affidavit was testimonial, thus subject to confrontation. It, the text messages, and the statement heard by Wungluck were unreliable hearsay that did not fit an exception. Brad suffered prejudice from the erroneous admission of the statements because the State's common motive theory failed without them.

### ARGUMENTS

I. The Clerk and Sheriff failed to substantially comply with § 3-15-405 when drawing Brad's jury panel.

Since statehood, Montana has maintained that a failure to substantially comply with the statutory procedures governing jury selection amounts to a denial of the fundamental constitutional right to

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