06/21/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0226

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0226

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

BRADLEY JAY HILLIOUS,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County, The Honorable Robert B. Allison, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
MARDELL PLOYHAR
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
mployhar@mt.gov

TRAVIS AHNER
Flathead County Attorney
JOHN DONOVAN
Deputy County Attorney
820 South Main Street

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

Further, *Dvorak* and *Solberg* both misquote *Ledger v. McKenzie*, 107 Mont. 335, 85 P.2d 352 (1938), and rely on the misstatement to conclude an irregularity in the drawing of a jury may be raised for the first time on a motion for new trial if counsel does not have the knowledge or means of knowledge of the irregularity.

³ The terms "draw" and "select" are used interchangeably throughout Title 3, chapter 15, parts 4 and 5 and do not appear to have separate meanings.

Dvorak, 196 Mont. at 171, 639 P.2d at 64; Solberg, 203 Mont. at 83, 659 P.2d at 292. Ledger actually stated that the plaintiff urged the Court to adopt the above rule, which was contrary to the general rule. This Court concluded it did not matter which rule applied because the court minutes gave the plaintiff the means of knowledge of the irregularity. Ledger, 107 Mont. at 340, 85 P.2d at 353. Dvorak and Solberg are flawed and should not be followed.

Hillious should not be able to avoid the consequences of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-112 by claiming he did not know what process was followed. The time bar places defendants on notice they must inquire about the jury selection process and raise any claim before trial, or they waive their objection. Unlike the defendant in *Hinkle*, who raised an objection to this issue before trial, Hillious failed to object before trial despite having a similar means of knowledge. Allison would have provided that information if Hillious had inquired before trial, but he failed to do so and waived his claim.

Further, Allison was present in the courtroom before the jurors were brought in, and she informed the court of the number of jurors who had been pulled, the number she had excused, and the number who had failed to show up. (Trial Tr. at 50.) Hillious could have raised a concern about the process. Instead, Hillious passed the jury for cause at the conclusion of voir dire. (*Id.* at 251.) Hillious's failure to raise any challenge to the formation of the jury waives his untimely

challenge. Given his failure to inquire into the jury procedures, his later discovery of irregularities does not provide good cause for him to challenge the jury long after his conviction.

D. If the formation of the jury is reviewed, the Clerk substantially complied with the jury procurement statutes.

The clerk must select people, "known as regular jurors," to serve for a one-year term pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 3-15-404 and -411(1). Montana Code Annotated § 3-15-405 requires the clerk to "serve notice by mail on the persons drawn as jurors and require the persons to respond by mail as to their qualifications to serve as jurors. The clerk of court may attach to the notice a jury questionnaire and a form for an affidavit claiming an excuse[.]" "If a person fails to respond to the notice, the clerk shall certify the failure to the sheriff, who shall serve the notice personally on the person and make reasonable efforts to require the person to respond to the notice." Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405. Trial jurors must be drawn from the pool of people selected, excluding those who are excused. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 3-15-411(1), -501(1).

The State acknowledges the clerk did not certify a list of nonresponders to the sheriff, and the sheriff did not personally serve nonresponders. The clerk also did not include nonresponders in the jury pool when drawing trial jurors.

The court nevertheless correctly denied Hillious's motion for new trial because the clerk substantially complied with the jury statutes by randomly

selecting potential jurors from a fair cross-section of the community. The failure to personally serve nonresponsive jurors was not a material deviation from the statutes and was harmless.

This Court has held that a substantial failure to comply with the jury statutes requires reversal of a conviction, but a technical violation that does not threaten the goals of random selection and objective disqualification is subject to the harmless error standard. *State v. Bearchild*, 2004 MT 355, ¶ 16, 324 Mont. 435, 103 P.3d 1006.

In *LaMere*, this Court held that summoning potential jurors by telephone, rather than by mail, materially undermined the purpose of the jury selection statutes to provide for random selection of jurors on the basis of objective criteria, requiring reversal. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 17, 75-76. LaMere moved to strike the jury panel before trial and presented statistics demonstrating a significant percentage of residents in Cascade County were Native American and a significant percentage of Native Americans lacked a telephone. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 5-8. The trial court denied the motion.

On appeal, this Court held that telephone summoning failed to substantially comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-505 (1997). This Court overruled *Robbins*, which had held that summoning jurors by telephone was harmless error, holding a substantial failure to comply with the statutory process of forming a jury required reversal. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 25, 55-61.

"A substantial failure to comply encompasses a statutory violation that affects the random nature or objectivity of the selection process." *LaMere*, ¶ 57 (citation and quotation marks omitted). "[T]echnical violations—even numerous such violations—that do not frustrate these goals or result in discrimination and arbitrariness do not constitute a substantial failure to comply." *LaMere*, ¶ 58. This Court noted that the Commission Comments to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-112 provide that "a successful challenge to the jury panel can be founded only upon a "*material departure* from the law" with respect to the manner in which the jury was selected, drawn, or summoned." *LaMere*, ¶ 59 (emphasis in original).

Thus, if a "statutory violation is 'substantial' or 'material'—viewed in terms of the underlying principles of ensuring that jury venires are selected randomly and on the basis of objective criteria—then it cannot be considered non-prejudicial to the defendant. A departure from the statutory scheme that directly or materially affects the random nature or objectivity of the jury selection process establishes a substantial violation independently of the departure's consequences in an individual case." *LaMere*, ¶ 60. "Conversely, a mere 'technical' or 'immaterial' violation—one that does not undermine the objective procedures designed to produce a jury venire consisting of a fair cross-section of the community—constitutes non-prejudical error under the substantial compliance standard." *Id*.

Because LaMere demonstrated the error undermined the random selection of jurors and the removal of jurors based on objective criteria, this Court reversed his conviction. *LaMere*, ¶ 75.

Similarly, this Court reversed the defendant's conviction in *State v*. *Highpine*, 2000 MT 368, 303 Mont. 422, 15 P.3d 938, because the clerk served notice on potential jurors by telephone. Highpine, like LaMere, presented statistical analysis demonstrating the clerk's method excluded economically disadvantaged people from the jury. *Highpine*, ¶ 40.

But this Court has found violations that did not impact the random nature or objectivity of the jury selection process to be technical violations, which are not reversible absent a showing of prejudice. This Court found that a judge's improper dismissal of a juror before trial was not a material failure to substantially comply and was harmless because the potential juror would not have served, and her dismissal did not affect the defendant's right to an impartial jury. *Bearchild*, ¶¶ 19-23. Similarly, this Court held an error was harmless when the wrong alternate juror deliberated on the case. *State v. Oschmann*, 2019 MT 33, ¶ 19, 394 Mont. 237, 434 P.3d 280.

Here, the Clerk's failure to certify the list of nonresponsive jurors to the sheriff, the sheriff's failure to personally serve, and the clerk's failure to include nonresponders when drawing the trial jury did not undermine the goals of

producing a randomly drawn jury composed of a fair cross-section of the community with excuses based only on objective criteria. The clerk used the jury program to randomly pull 7,000 names from the list of potential jurors in Flathead County. Although the data from Hillious's jury term is not in the record, it should be similar to the data in *Shaw*, which demonstrated that 2,507 people returned their questionnaires, 2,742 people did not return their questionnaires, and many others were excused or deceased. (Doc. 218, Ex. E at 26-37, 148.)⁴ In addition, around 1,000 people generally have their questionnaires returned as undeliverable. (*Id.* at 15.)

This data demonstrates that approximately 2,500 individuals likely returned their questionnaires in Hillious's jury term. From that pool, 200 potential trial jurors were randomly drawn. (Trial Tr. at 50.) 65 of those potential jurors were excused and 30 failed to show up, leaving 105 potential trial jurors.

Unlike *LaMere* and *Highpine*, where potential jurors were never notified of jury service if they did not have a phone number, there is no indication any identifiable group was excluded by the failure to personally serve individuals who did not return their questionnaires. Every person with a valid address was notified they had been drawn and had an opportunity to respond.

⁴ Hillious does not request remand to hold a hearing and relies on the data from *Shaw*, which he admitted.

Significantly, Allison testified that the percentage of people who return questionnaires is evenly spread throughout the county. There is no evidence the failure to return a questionnaire is related to race or poverty. Instead, as Judge Wilson demonstrated in *Shaw*, many people fail to respond because they no longer live in Flathead County. That is confirmed by law enforcement's recent experience with personal service, which is successful only about ten percent of the time. Recent efforts to increase responses did improve the response rate, but there is no indication that increasing responses has impacted the rate at which any group is represented in a jury pool.

And there is no guarantee that personal service will lead a person to complete a questionnaire or appear for jury duty. As Wilson concluded, the requirement of personal service is "aspirational" and appears to be intended to produce a sufficient number of potential jurors, rather than to ensure that every person drawn appears for jury duty. (Doc. 217, Ex. 1 at 23.)

Federal law demonstrates that personal service is not required to produce an impartial jury. The personal service requirement was removed from federal statutes in 1970 and, federal statutes have allowed potential jurors to be served by first-class mail since 1983. Pub. L. No. 91-543, 84 Stat. 1408 (codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1866 (1970)); Pub. L. No. 97-463, § 2, 96 Stat. 2531 (codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1866 (1983)). Further, federal clerks are not required to follow up with individuals who

do not respond to their jury summons. *United States v. Gometz*, 730 F.2d 475 (7th Cir. 1984); *United States v. Santos*, 588 F.2d 1300, 1303 (9th Cir. 1979).

Hillious's reliance on literacy statistics to suggest that illiterate jurors may have been excluded should be rejected for many reasons. (Appellant's Br. at 26.) First, that data was not cited in the district court. Second, a person who qualifies as "illiterate" under the standard used in that data may understand the notice. (*See* https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/piaac/measure.asp#:~:text=For%20PIAAC%2C%20lite racy%20was%20defined,this%20definition%20are%20explained%20below. (defining literacy).) Third, a person who does not understand the notice can ask anyone to help them read the notice or can call the number on the notice. There is no evidence the failure to personally serve potential jurors resulted in the type of error that occurred in *LaMere*, where potential jurors without a phone did not have any opportunity to be served.⁵

The record demonstrates personal service would be largely futile, and failing to personally serve does not undermine the goals of the jury statutes to produce an impartial jury randomly selected from a fair cross-section of the community.

Because a substantial violation is defined as one that undermines the principles of ensuring that jury venires are selected randomly and on the basis of objective

⁵ It is doubtful Hillious would have wanted an illiterate juror given that he admitted thousands of pages of written evidence.

criteria, and failing to personally serve and include nonresponders in the pool did not undermine those principles, the violation is a technical violation subject to harmless error analysis.

There is no evidence Hillious was harmed by the failure to personally serve individuals who failed to respond. 105 potential jurors appeared for jury duty after twice being randomly selected—first, for the pool of regular jurors, and second, for the trial jury. Hillious had the opportunity to question all jurors during voir dire, and he passed the jury for cause. (Trial Tr. at 251.) There is no indication that the 105 who appeared for jury duty were not a representative group of Flathead County citizens. Nor is there evidence that representation of any identifiable group in the jury pool would have been different if officers had undertaken the arduous task of attempting to personally serve every nonresponsive individual. Because this failure did not have any effect on the fairness of Hillious's trial, the failure to comply is harmless.

E. Alternatively, this Court should overruled *LaMere* and find harmless error.

This Court's analysis in *LaMere* is internally inconsistent and is manifestly wrong. *LaMere* incorrectly stated the issue was "whether a transgression of the Sixth Amendment's fair cross-section guarantee is amenable to harmless error review." *LaMere*, ¶ 39. But, *LaMere* did not involve a violation of the Sixth Amendment's fair cross-section guarantee. Instead, it involved a statutory

violation. *LaMere* relied on caselaw involving violations of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial to determine that a statutory violation could not be considered harmless. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 39-49. This Court then determined that it did not matter that LaMere did not demonstrate a violation of his constitutional right to an impartial jury under *Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357 (1979), because he was only alleging a statutory violation. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 62-64. This Court improperly applied the structural error standard applicable to a constitutional violation to a statutory violation.

Structural error "is typically of constitutional dimensions, precedes the trial, and undermines the fairness of the entire trial proceeding." *Van Kirk*, ¶ 38. The failure to comply with a statute, which is not required to produce an impartial jury, should not be treated the same as a violation of the constitutional right to an impartial jury. Significantly, personal service is not required by federal courts nor the federal Constitution.

While it may be appropriate to find structural error in cases like *LaMere*, where a defendant demonstrates that a significant percentage of Native Americans in the community were never given the opportunity to receive notice of jury duty, structural error is not appropriate in this case. Here, there is no showing the failure to personally serve impacted Hillious's right to an impartial jury. Hillious and other defendants are attempting to have their convictions reversed without any

showing their jury was not impartial. When a statutory violation has no impact on the impartiality of the jury, harmless error should apply.

The Legislature's mandate that no conviction be reversed based on an "irregularity" that "does not affect the substantial rights of the accused," or any "error . . . unless the record shows that the error was prejudicial[,]" Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-1-103(3), 46-20-701(1), supports that conclusion. Because the failure to personally serve nonresponsive individuals did not affect Hillious's substantial rights, the violation is not a basis to reverse his conviction.

CONCLUSION

The district court did not err in admitting Amanda's prior statements, and if it did, the error was harmless. Additionally, irregularities in serving and drawing potential jurors were not reversible error. Accordingly, Hillious's deliberate homicide conviction should be affirmed.